
   Environmental Quality and  
Deborah Schaffer   Energy Conservation Committee 
Recording Secretary 1 June 4, 2015 

June 4, 2015 
 

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF 
THE ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY AND 
ENERGY CONSERVATION COMMISSION 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
 The Torrance Environmental Quality and Energy Conservation Commission 
convened in a regular session at 7:02 p.m. on Thursday, June 4, 2015 in the West 
Annex meeting room at Torrance City Hall. 
 
2. ROLL CALL: 
 

Present: Commissioners Deemer, DeWitt, Endo-Roberts*, Martin,  
Montgomery, Wright, and Chairperson Gobble. 

 
Absent: None. 

 
Also Present: Deputy Community Development Director Cessna, Senior 

Environmental Quality Officer Jones, Environmental Quality 
Officer Travers, Environmental Quality Officer Colclasure, 
and Environmental Quality Officer Oorts. 

 
*Commissioner Endo-Roberts arrived at 7:07 p.m. 
  
3. SALUTE TO THE FLAG 
 

Commissioner Montgomery led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

4. POSTING OF THE AGENDA   
 

MOTION:  Commissioner Martin, seconded by Commissioner Deemer, moved to 
accept and file the report of the secretary on the posting of the agenda for this meeting; 
a roll call vote reflected unanimous approval (Commissioner Wright abstaining). 
 
5. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 
 Chairperson Gobble explained the policies and procedures of the Environmental 
Quality and Energy Conservation Commission, including the right to appeal decisions to 
City Council.   
 
6. APPROVAL OF MINUTES : MAY 7, 2015 
 

MOTION:  Commissioner DeWitt moved to approve the Commission meeting 
minutes of May 7, 2015 as presented.  Commissioner Montgomery seconded the 
motion; a roll call vote reflected unanimous approval (Commissioner Wright abstaining). 



   Environmental Quality and  
Deborah Schaffer   Energy Conservation Committee 
Recording Secretary 2 June 4, 2015 

7. ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 
 
7A. LANDSCAPE CODE REVISION 

Senior Environmental Quality Officer Jones reported that staff is proposing 
amendments to the Torrance Municipal Code (TMC) requirements for landscape in 
residential front yards.  She stated that their goal is to update the TMC to address 
current issues with drought, provide planting options, and provide definition of terms and 
guidelines that are currently missing.  She noted that current TMC Sections 92-32.4 
Vegetation, 92.5.14 Paving of Residentially Zoned Property, and 92.13.1 Residential 
Purposes were included in agenda materials. 

 
With the aid of slides, she showed examples of issues that staff face and 

proposed verbiage to address them in order to have more effective and consistent 
enforcement.  Referring to the Vegetation section, she stated that guidelines are needed 
to define overgrowth.  She noted that there are different interpretations of overgrown 
vegetation that make it difficult to enforce.  She stated that TMC should be modified to 
restrict vegetation from laying or leaning on roofs, including the roof of a neighboring 
property.    

 
Senior Environmental Quality Officer Jones reported that the TMC states that no 

more than 50% of a residential front yard can be paved.  She noted that entirely paved 
yards encourage people to park on them. She stated that staff is proposing that at least 
30% of front yards contain live plant material and the remaining 20% of the yard could 
be hardscape such as rocks, pavers, decompressed granite, mulch, or artificial turf. 

 
In response to Chairperson Gobble’s inquiry, she stated that staff does not 

usually address public right-of-ways and that parkways can be bricks or pavers as long 
as they are not a safety hazard. 

 
Referring to Residential Purposes, Senior Environmental Quality Officer Jones 

stated that the TMW requires that any fence, wall, or hedge within the first 10 feet of the 
front property line cannot exceed four feet in height.  She noted that there is no definition 
of the word “hedge” and that amendments should also include trees or other vegetation 
that form a boundary or barrier.  She showed examples of line of sight issues, and stated 
that verbiage should be added that states that vegetation should not interfere with a 
driver’s view of pedestrians or vehicles on the sidewalk or street while a driver is 
entering or exiting a driveway. 

 
When Commissioner Deemer inquired about hilly areas, she stated that they 

measure from the start of the grade of the property and that a retaining wall can be up to 
four feet in height.  

 
Environmental Quality Officer Travers noted that the TMC does not address trees 

and in some cases the City is in violation of the spirit of the law.  
 
Senior Environmental Quality Officer Jones stated that staff would compare the 

City’s TMC with other South Bay cities, formulate verbiage, work with the City Attorney’s 
office, and bring back recommendations to the Commission. She welcomed suggestions 
from Commissioners. 

 



   Environmental Quality and  
Deborah Schaffer   Energy Conservation Committee 
Recording Secretary 3 June 4, 2015 

Responding to Commissioner Deemer’s inquiry, Deputy Director Cessna 
described the Vacant Property Ordinance, adding that there is an abatement hearing if 
there are three complaints within one year.  

 
Commissioner Deemer recommended requiring permeable driveways in new 

constructions and Deputy Director Cessna stated that they are encouraging it but cannot 
require it at this time.   

 
Commissioner Montgomery stated that he would like to see a greater percentage 

than 30% live vegetation.  He noted that artificial turf is bad for many reasons and would 
like to limit it.  He shared information about “green” roofs that have vegetation planted on 
them to reduce heat and absorb rainwater and recommended requiring that hardscape 
be water permeable.  When he stated that it would be devastating to remove the trees 
on Via El Chico where he lives, Environmental Quality Officer Travers pointed out that 
the nicest parts of the City have the worst violations.   

 
Deputy Director Cessna stated that in some areas of the City the property lines 

are set back farther than one would realize. 
 
Commissioner DeWitt recommending researching codes of cities in harsher 

areas such as Riverside and Azusa.  He suggested having a clear reason for proposing 
amendments, noting that it cannot be for aesthetics.  He raised the possibility of 
“grandfathering” in residences that are in violation as long as safety is not compromised. 

 
Commissioner Wright offered his observation that there are several tools for 

enforcement already in the Vegetation Code.  He stated that hedges are more of a 
hazard for visibility than trees and that the biggest problem with artificial turf is that 
people do not maintain it.  In response to his inquiry, staff stated that the Director of 
Building and Safety considers.requests for more than 50% pavement on a case-by-case 
basis. 

 
Commissioner Martin expressed concern that some front yards have become 

desert with a few cacti.  She pointed out that hedges are separate plants that have 
grown together and received clarification from staff that issues with sidewalks and 
parkways are addressed by Public Works.   

 
Commissioner Endo-Roberts discussed the problem of vermin harborage and 

Deputy Director Cessna stated that Vector Control is a good resource for that. 
 
Commissioner Deemer inquired about duplex, triplex, and fourplex property 

restrictions and Deputy Director Cessna explained that there are different standards for 
different residential zones.   

 
Chairperson Gobble concurred that sidewalks need to remain clear but would 

prefer five feet rather than the ten foot requirement from front property lines.  He stated 
that vegetation should be clear one foot from eaves, and that use of permeable 
hardscape and smaller pavers should be encouraged.  He expressed concern that 
seeds from fountain grasses are blowing into other properties and propagating and 
suggested that invasive species should not be allowed.   

 



   Environmental Quality and  
Deborah Schaffer   Energy Conservation Committee 
Recording Secretary 4 June 4, 2015 

Environmental Quality Officer Oorts informed him that fountain grass is on the 
approved list but that pampas grass has been banned. 

 
Commissioner Montgomery suggested reaching out to South Coast Botanical 

Gardens and Madrona Marsh Preserve for expertise about recommended drought 
tolerant vegetation.  He distributed a handout regarding pros and cons of artificial turf. 

 
Commissioner Wright stated that there is not always going to be a drought and 

that we want Torrance to be green.  He distributed information about a program in San 
Mateo that allows residents to pick up as much reclaimed water as they want. 
 
7B. UPDATE ON EV DAY ACTIVITY 

 
Deputy Director Cessna discussed plans for the City’s Drive Electric Week event 

on September 12, 2015.  She reported that trenching has begun for the first set of 
charging stations behind Katy Geissert Civic Center Library.  She stated that there would 
be room for 40 booths in the parking lot and that Torrance Transit, Torrance Municipal 
Water, Library, and solar vendors would be invited to participate as well as the local 
automobile dealerships and original equipment manufacturers.  She discussed plans to 
speak with the Risk Manager regarding release of liability for test drives.  She stated that 
Commissioners could assist with the test drives and talk with the public about the EV 
infrastructure throughout the City. 

 
In response to Commissioner Montgomery’s inquiries, she stated that 

approximately 30 private vehicles are expected.  She provided clarification that the 
original equipment manufactures would be conducting the test drives, not the vehicle 
owners. 

 
Chairperson Gobble stated that it is important to have a good diversity of vehicle 

types and recommended planning on 100 private vehicles. 
 
8. ORAL COMMUNICATION 
 
8A. Commissioner DeWitt stated that he participated in the Leadership Torrance 
event last weekend and helped set foundations and structures at Madrona Marsh 
Preserve. 
 
8B. Commissioner Endo-Roberts expressed her appreciation for the wealth of 
valuable information she has learned in the short time she has been on the Commission. 
 
9. ADJOURNMENT 

 
MOTION: At 9:04 p.m., Commissioner Endo-Robert moved to adjourn the 

meeting to August 6, 2015 at 7:00 p.m. in the West Annex meeting room. Commissioner 
Wright seconded the motion and, hearing no objection, Chairperson Gobble so ordered.  

 
### 

\ Approved as amended 
August 6, 2015 
s/ Rebecca Poirier, City Clerk   


	ENERGY CONSERVATION COMMISSION

